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INTRODUCTION AND SCOPE OF WORK 

Marcum LLP (“Marcum”) was retained by Saundra Kee Borges, Corporation Counsel of the City 
of Hartford (“City”), to conduct an independent review of the operations of the Hartford Police 
Internal Affairs Division (“IAD”).  Additionally, we were asked to conduct a fact finding as to 
whether or not: 
   

• Lieutenant Neville Brooks, in his role as Commander of the Internal Affairs 
Division of the Hartford Police Department, unfairly targeted Assistant or Deputy 
Chiefs for investigation. 

• Certain Assistant Chiefs or Deputy Chiefs of the Hartford Police Department 
retaliated against Lieutenant Brooks for what they perceived as unfair targeting 
by him. 

 
The purpose of the engagement was for Marcum to perform certain services and consult with 
Corporation Counsel to assist with formulating her legal strategy and advising her client, the 
City, as to current pending litigation.   
 

METHODOLOGY 

The investigation consisted primarily of interviewing individuals, both internal and external to 
the City of Hartford Police Department (“HPD”), and reviewing various records, documents and 
reports.  During the course of the investigation, where possible, the investigators attempted to 
obtain corroboration of certain facts from multiple sources.  The credibility of the information 
gathered was reviewed using several factors, including, but not limited to: 
 

• Source of the information; 
• Witness’ basis of knowledge; 
• Existence of corroborating information; 
• Period of time, if any, between certain events and the date of any reported 

complaint relating to those events;   
• Motivation of those providing information; and 
• Ordinary experience and common sense of the investigator.  

 
More specifically, in excess of 330 work hours have been completed to date. We have 
interviewed more than 45 individuals, some of whom have been interviewed on multiple 
occasions.   
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Additional tasks included: 
 

• Review of relevant email communications; 
• Review of  the City of Hartford Police Department Policy and Procedures; 
• Review City of Hartford Policy and Procedure Employee Assistance; 
• Review of the Hartford Police Department Code of Conduct; 
• Review of various Hartford Police Department Union grievances as they pertain 

to IAD; 
• Review of the numerous Police documents, reports and written memoranda of 

various individuals;  
• Review of IAPro tracking and various IAD case files and process; 
• Review of the City of Hartford’s Policy on Internal Affairs and Citizens 

Complaints; 
• Review of 2008 Consultant’s Audit Report of Internal Affairs;  
• Review of electronic access records to the IAD complex; 
• Meetings with Chief Roberts and all Assistant and Deputy Chiefs; and 
• Meeting with Hartford Police Department Union members. 

 

SUMMARY OF FACTS AND FINDINGS 

REVIEW OF THE INTERNAL AFFAIRS DIVISION 

Understanding the role and responsibilities of the Internal Affairs Division and its Commander in 
the context of this investigation is critical.  Additionally, it is important to understand the 
hierarchy of the Hartford Police Department.  At the time of this review, Command Staff of the 
Hartford Police Department consisted of three Assistant Chiefs and two Deputy Chiefs1.  The 
Commander of the Internal Affairs Division is a Lieutenant position in charge of five-six people 
in the IAD.  The rank of Commander is below that of Assistant Chief and Deputy Chief, but the 
Commander of IAD reports directly to the Chief of Police.  The various written procedures seem 
consistent in that the Commander of the IAD is charged with the following responsibilities: 

 
1. The IAD Commander evaluates and refers for investigation all Class A 

complaints (complaints of a serious nature).  
 

2. At the discretion of the IAD Commander, complaints (Class A) of a less serious 
nature may be referred to individual commanders for investigation. 

                                            
1During the course of this review, one Assistant Chief  position has been eliminated.   As of the date of this report, 
the current Command Staff consists of Assistant Chief Heavren, Assistant Chief Horvath, Deputy Chief Ciesinski, 
and Deputy Chief Sansom. 
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3. Class B complaints (those of a less serious nature, such as poor or slow service, 

etc.) will be referred to the involved employee's Bureau Commander. 
Commanders must review Class B complaints and provide findings and 
recommendations except in cases referred to the Investigative Review Board. In 
those cases, the commanders will review the file for completeness and accuracy, 
but will refrain from making any findings or recommendations. 
 

4. Complaints by mail alleging a Class A category of complaint shall be forwarded 
to IAD where they will be officially received. 
 

5. Time limits are set for the investigation and completion of the investigations. 
 

6. All citizen complaints shall be logged in by IAD by use of the IAPro computer 
program (a commercial software program designed specifically to track Internal 
Affairs complaints and investigations). All Internal Affairs personnel shall be 
trained in the use of the IAPro software program. 
 

7. The Commander of the IAD reports directly to the Chief of Police. 

Our review of the IAD and internal investigative process, at least over the past several years, 
identified several primary findings, discussions of which follow. 

• During the past several years, management oversight of the IAD was lax and at 
times nonexistent.  Management of the IAD is the direct responsibility of the 
Commander and his direct supervisor, Chief Roberts.   Our review found missing 
files, incomplete cases, sporadic attendance, missed deadlines and a number of 
incidents of non compliance with the recent Settlement Agreement of Cintron v. 
Vaughn.   

 
Management was aware of the potential for problems in IAD: 
 
Chief Roberts was made aware of the potential for non compliance as far back as November of 
2009.  Then Assistant Chief Dryfe advised Chief Roberts that Lieutenant Brooks, Commander of 
Internal Affairs, did not properly document cases and that he failed to fully and properly 
investigate complaints. (See Exhibit 1)  Dryfe opined that it was entirely possible that Lieutenant 
Brooks had an attitude towards internal affairs investigations and misconduct by officers that 
was incompatible with the Department's commitment to the citizen complaint process. Assistant 
Chief Dryfe was extremely concerned that Lieutenant Brooks' processing and investigation of 
citizen complaints would not be acceptable under the Cintron agreement.  No action was taken 
by Chief Roberts. 



6 | P a g e  
 

 

IAD Investigations Exceeded Time Deadlines and Some Files are Missing: 
 
In conducting this inquiry, we reviewed a random sampling of thirty four (34) internal 
investigative files for consistency, appropriateness and completeness, focusing mainly on those 
files created after February 2010, the latest settlement date of the Cintron v. Vaughn Agreement.  
This review showed that virtually all citizen complaint investigations did not meet the 
administrative deadlines mandated by the recent Cintron Agreement settlement.  The Agreement 
requires, in pertinent part, that: “investigation of a citizen complaint shall be concluded within 
sixty (60) days of receipt of the complaint by the Internal Affairs Division.”  The Complainant 
shall be notified within fifteen (15) days of the conclusion of the citizen complaint investigation.  
There is also a provision and procedure for extending the sixty (60) day requirement if 
circumstances cause a delay beyond the sixty (60) days.  While we noted that all the IAD 
investigators appear to have completed all investigative tasks within the required sixty (60) day 
deadline, many of the completed cases would apparently languish on Lieutenant Brooks’ desk 
for significant amounts of time before being reviewed and sent to Chief Roberts. When finally 
reviewed, it was not uncommon for many to be done all at once.  Oftentimes, several additional 
months would elapse before cases would be closed, in apparent conflict with the Cintron 
Agreement.  
 
Additionally, there appear to be files missing from the IAD and some complaints were 
apparently assigned to investigators who were not aware of having those cases assigned to them.  
Investigators that have been transferred from IAD maintain several open files and some files 
have not been returned to date. Others were allowed to remove files from the complex. There is 
at least one open file still in possession of an individual no longer employed at HPD.  A review 
of investigations revealed no documents for a number of the open investigations.  Because 
reports, photos, recordings and other documents were not entered into the software system, 
IAPro as required, no electronic case files were available for some complaints.  Therefore, we 
are unable to ascertain whether or not investigative tasks were even completed.  A brief summary 
of Open Investigations as of June 2011 shows the following: 
  
                2008 – 5 complaints were still open investigations – no missing files 
                2009 – 33 complaints were still open investigations –  7 files missing 
                2010 – 10 complaints were still open – no missing files  
 
The practice of removing files from the IAD complex must cease.  Cases should be transferred to 
new investigators when personnel leave IAD.  We were told that all of the  2010 open complaints 
would be completed by October 1, 2011.    The open cases should be completed as soon as 
possible.     
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Completed Investigations Were Not Reviewed by Division and Bureau Commanders: 
 
At one time, all completed IA investigations were delivered to Assistant or Deputy Chiefs who 
were responsible for the employee under investigation for their review and comment prior to 
going to Chief Roberts.  However, shortly after then Deputy Chief Horvath sent several memos 
to Chief Roberts in August 2009 and Assistant Chief Dryfe complained about Lieutenant Brooks' 
management of certain investigations in November 2009, the Command Review process 
stopped.  We were told that Lieutenant Brooks urged Chief Roberts to discontinue this review 
since he reported directly to Chief Roberts.  Completed investigations after this point were 
reviewed by Lieutenant Brooks and Chief Roberts only.  It is highly recommended that the 
Command Review process be re-instituted. 
 
Investigations Were Limited: 
 
Prior Commanders of IAD instituted the generally accepted practice of expanding the 
investigation beyond the “four corners” of the citizen’s complaint allegation.  However, we were 
told that Lieutenant Brooks did not seem overly concerned with finding misconduct not relating 
to the original complaint.  Such findings will many times be found during an IA investigation 
and should be investigated and acted upon.  It seems that there exists a perception that only those 
matters that were contained within the original complaint should be investigated.  Brooks 
admitted that the number of sustained complaints dropped during his tenure as Commander of 
IAD.   
 
We do note that there were complaints about previous Commanders of IAD going too far in 
investigating beyond the original complaint.  A balance should be struck between investigating 
all issues involving the substance of the complaint without looking into ancillary and unrelated 
violations of other policies.  It does not appear that this balance has been achieved. 
 
The citizen’s complaint should be considered by the Department as an opportunity to review the 
employee’s encounter with the citizen and evaluate whether policy, training and safety issues 
were used by the employee.  Most of these are issues the average citizen would not have any 
information about.   
 
Class B Complaints Were Not Referred to Field Supervisors: 
 
Lieutenant Brooks developed a practice of keeping all Class B complaints, which are less serious 
in nature, within the IAD rather than refer them to the field for investigation by field supervisors, 
in conflict with HPD General Orders. There are suppositions that this occurred because it would 
raise suspicions to refer already past due issues back to the field for investigation. As a matter of 
course, Class B complaints should be referred back to the field so that field supervisors become 
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accustomed to handling citizen complaints, are aware of issues involving their personnel and 
working to resolve them in an acceptable and timely fashion. 
 
IAD Office Access Was Not Restricted: 
 
A review of the Electronic access logs show that access was granted to various people that were 
not IA personnel.  We were informed that other non IA personnel were frequently allowed access 
by Lieutenant Brooks.  Because the office area of IA is used to interview witnesses, maintain 
confidential files and has custody of sensitive records, access to IAD should, by policy, be 
restricted to IA personnel and the Chief of Police.  The Department has no formalized process 
and records of who requested, and who authorized access to, restricted areas.    
 
Software Was Not Utilized: 
 
The software system in place, IAPro is not utilized to the fullest extent. The IAPro software 
program is a commercially available program designed to track Internal Affairs complaints and 
investigations. It was installed in 2005.  All recordings, memoranda, correspondence and other 
investigative evidence should be electronically maintained through IAPro.  Our review showed 
that this was not being done consistently.    There are a number of cases that do not have the 
investigative evidence entered into the system. 
 
One of the main features of IAPro is the ability to raise "red flags" or "early intervention 
indicators" that alert management to the potential of a problematic employee. The following is a 
statement from the IAPro web site: 
 
IAPro assists public safety agencies in identifying potential problems early on, so that proactive 
action can be taken. IAPro ensures the most efficient handling of citizen complaints, 
administrative investigations, use-of-force reporting, and other types of incidents, while 
providing the means to analyze and identify areas of concern. 
 
However, a user of IAPro needs to enter in the parameters that would alert the indicators 
requiring early intervention; this has not been done in the Hartford Police Department system. 
This deficiency could be problematic in any future civil litigation since it is incumbent upon 
Police Departments to have an early warning system in place.  We recommend that the software 
be utilized to its full capacity as it will alleviate the issues previously identified. 
 
Sporadic Attendance and Time Records Issues: 
 
Attendance by the Commander in the IAD appears to have played a role in the problems of 
management.  It was common knowledge by the Chief of Police and Command Staff that the 
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Commander of Internal Affairs, during his tenure since 2009, was sporadic in his attendance at 
the IAD complex during regular work hours.  In fact, in January 2011, after being passed over 
for promotion and prior to his later transfer in April 2011, Lieutenant Brooks was advised by 
Command Staff members to “clean up his act and come to work.”   Within the IAD, we were 
informed that Lieutenant Brooks was generally not available in person, could be difficult to 
reach, and did not appear interested in the day-to-day operations of the division.  We have 
tracked his attendance from February 2009 through April 2011 and tracked his entries into the 
Internal Affairs Department.   
 
A review of Lieutenant Brooks’ attendance records and his electronic access to the IAD confirms 
a less than regular attendance, at least prior to December 2010.  Between February 2009 and 
April 2011, he took in excess of 160 days off, in addition to his regularly scheduled days.  This 
paid time off was divided between vacation, sick, earned leave and an abundance of 
compensatory time.  We note that these days were apparently authorized, for legitimate reasons 
and time that Lieutenant Brooks was entitled to.  However, HPD management should have been 
aware that this amount of time off appears excessive for someone that is running a division that 
is responsible for compliance with a Federal Consent decree.   Given the required supervision of 
this important function, a replacement Commander should have been considered. 
 
During other times of reported normal work hours, we note minimal entries into the IAD 
complex by Lieutenant Brooks.  Oftentimes, entries would be made at “non-traditional” hours 
such as late at night (11:00 p.m.) or early morning hours (1:30 a.m.).  There were frequent initial 
entries to begin the day (i.e. 6:30 a.m.) and no other entries for that day.2  In contrast, IAD 
investigators showed frequent entries during normal work hours.  While not conclusive, it is 
inconceivable that the Commander would not have had to access the IAD office on multiple 
occasions during regular work hours.  This was a frequent occurrence during his tenure and was 
reportedly known to the Chief and Command Staff.  When Command Staff was asked why they 
did not take action at the time, the common reply was that the IAD Commander reported to the 
Chief of Police and that they did not have supervisory responsibility for him.   
 
We were informed that verification of time worked and signing of time cards, both in IAD and 
other specialized divisions was a problem.  Although there have been previous issues with time 
cards and attendance issues within the Department, it was observed that the keeping of time 
cards by hand, with little verification of hours and attendance, at least in specialized divisions, is 
problematic.  Instead of having his supervisor, Chief Roberts, sign and verify his time card, 
Lieutenant Brooks would often require one of his subordinates to sign his card.  We were told 
that it was a common  practice throughout the department to have any supervisor sign time cards, 
regardless of whether they were a subordinate or assigned to that division or not.   This should 

                                            
2 The electronic access system only registers entry into the offices but not exit.      
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not be an accepted practice. Additionally, the practice of a subordinate (although a ranking 
officer) signing off on the time card of that person's supervisor is unethical, to the say the least.   
 
We note that a new automated ASAP Scheduling and Payroll System has been installed as of 
July 2011 and is currently in process of full implementation throughout the HPD. It is expected 
that the aforementioned issues will be addressed.  

• The practice of initiating I-Files for internal investigations has been used overused, 
is in direct conflict of HPD orders, and the necessary transparency of the 
disciplinary process is lacking. The overuse of I-Files appear to have greatly 
contributed to the overall atmosphere of paranoia and mistrust.     

We found that the use of I-Files have appeared to contribute to an overall atmosphere of paranoia 
and mistrust.  An I-File is an investigation authorized by the Chief of Police and is considered 
not subject to the Cintron Agreement.  These investigations are typically requested by the 
Command Staff, Commander of IAD, or the Chief himself without a formal written complaint.  
These investigations are conducted by IAD investigators.  The so called I-File is only authorized 
under Appendix A, Employee Rights section of the current Hartford Police Department 
Agreement. It reads, in pertinent part: 

1. Any formal written complaint by a person against a Police Officer shall be duly 
sworn to and signed by the complainant. If the person refuses to sign the complaint, 
the complainant shall be received and the refusal to sign shall be noted. 

2. The above does not preclude the Chief of Police from initiating a departmental 
investigation upon receipt of any type of complaint if he or she determines it to be in 
the best interest of the Police Department and/or Police Officer involved. The 
investigation of an unsigned complaint must be concluded within thirty (30) working 
days of the filing of the complaint. On or before thirty (30) working days have passed, 
the Chief of Police must advise the Police Officer involved whether charges will be 
made against him or her or whether the investigation has been concluded. If the 
investigation has been concluded, no charges will be made against the officer at any 
later time. 

As part of our inquiry, we interviewed prior Union and Hartford Police Department management 
personnel. We were informed that this provision was instituted in the Union contract dated 1978 
and was intended to apply to unsigned civilian/citizen complaints.  Union rights required that 
complaints against officers must be signed before an investigation can commence.  This 
provision was inserted into the Bargaining Unit contract to preserve Management’s right to 
conduct an investigation for the good of the department. However, we were informed that the I-
Files were intended to be used for unsigned civilian complaints and in very limited 
circumstances.  We were told that these investigations were not intended to usurp the standard 
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disciplinary process to address violations of policy or Code of Conduct.  However, past Hartford 
Police Department administrations have expanded the application of this provision and it has 
been continued to date.   

Our review of recent I-Files revealed that they were all initiated for violations of the Hartford 
Police Department policies and/or Code of Conduct.  We found that most I-Files have been 
initiated unnecessarily and in direct conflict of HPD Order 4-2, Disciplinary Procedures (see 
Exhibit 2).  HPD Order 4-2 establishes procedures to be followed by all personnel in dealing 
with violations of Department Rules of Conduct and Procedures.  It defines the various types of 
disciplinary sanctions which may be imposed and fixes responsibility for initiation and 
conducting of investigations as well as establishing procedural safeguards for the rights of all 
personnel of the Hartford Police Department.  Specifically, the Order requires supervisory 
personnel to conduct inquiries of employee violations.  The order reads, in pertinent part: 

“Supervisory personnel shall, upon discovery of a violation of a Department Rule of Conduct 
or Procedure, forward a report regarding the matter, through channels, to the Department 
Advocate for review and endorsement for recommended actions.” 

We were informed that the initial intent of Order 4-2 was to involve the employee’s supervisor in 
the process.  This is further evidenced later in the order where it is directed that employees shall 
“Report all violations of Department Rules of Conduct and Procedures to the supervisor or 
commander of the individual concerned (emphasis added).”   

The importance of this Order was highlighted in a comprehensive audit of IAD to identify and 
correct deficiencies, commissioned in 2008. The detailed final report comments that “the 
principal problem with the current practices of the Hartford Police Department is that it 
appears to eliminate any direct involvement in the disciplinary process by immediate 
supervisors. These supervisors are the persons most able to correct, direct and monitor 
employees and ensure that they are performing consistent with the agency policies, training 
and practices…; immediate supervisors and the chain of command of their employees are 
not being held accountable for the performance of their employees and any degree of 
ownership in the disciplinary process.”   

Additionally, Order 4-2 provides for process involving Senior Officers.  The Order states that “in 
the case of disciplinary proceedings involving senior police personnel, (non-bargaining unit 
members), all action will be taken by the Commander at the next higher level of command or the 
Chief of Police.”   

By utilizing the process of I-Files, the transparency of the disciplinary process is minimized for 
all employees and some have the perception that they may be reviewed without the involvement 
of their direct superiors who know and work with them the closest.  We were told that many 
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officers feel that the Chief of Police and Command Staff are exercising undue control over the 
process and using it arbitrarily to protect some from discipline and persecuting others. 

 
• Few, if any, of the recommendations contained in a comprehensive audit of IAD to 

identify and correct deficiencies, commissioned in 2008 were ever implemented.  
Many of the recommendations addressed the same deficiencies noted during our 
inquiry. 

 
Even though a comprehensive audit of IAD to identify and correct deficiencies was 
commissioned in 2008, few of the recommendations were ever implemented.  We do not have 
any explanation as to why current and past IAD personnel were not aware of this report nor have 
they reviewed it.  Some of the recommendations listed in the report, had they been implemented, 
would have addressed most of the issues identified in our current review.  Some of the more 
important recommendations are: 

1. Codify the draft written order currently identified as “Citizen Complaints,” IAD 
06-001 with the reasonable suggestions embodied in this audit report (See Exhibit 
3). 

2. The Department should consider bifurcation of criminal and administrative 
investigations and removing the criminal investigation from the responsibility of 
the IAD. 

3. Develop an Internal Affairs Unit operational manual. (A manual was drafted and 
is available in IAD.  We were informed that it has never been formally adopted.)  

4. Develop an investigative guide for field level investigations including a template 
for the completed investigative report. 

5. Develop a format to direct the method of interviewing persons during 
administrative investigations in relation to the substance of the allegation. 

6. IAD investigators should be fact finders only. 

7. The Department should consider methods to formally involve the chain of 
command of accused employees in the adjudication and discipline process. 

Attached as Exhibit 4 is the full 2008 report, at least as it relates to IAD with detailed findings 
and recommendations.   
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REVIEW OF THE CIRCUMSTANCES SURROUNDING THE TRANSFER OF LIEUTENANT 
BROOKS FROM IAD 

This is a case where statements, rumors and innuendo, as well as personal relationships played a 
significant role in understanding the actions taken by the Chief, Assistant and Deputy Chiefs, and 
the commander of Internal Affairs.  Both sides appeared justified in most of their actions; 
however, it is apparent that both took an overly aggressive stance in going about the task.  
 
By way of background, it is important to understand that there has been a contentious 
relationship between the Assistant Chiefs, Deputy Chiefs, and the Commander of Internal 
Affairs, Neville Brooks, particularly since January 2011.  In the current organizational structure, 
the Commander of Internal Affairs reports directly to the Chief of Police, bypassing any 
reporting to the Assistant Chiefs or Deputy Chiefs. 
 
We have constructed a timeline of relevant events as they relate to the circumstances of 
Lieutenant Brooks’ transfer.   

• As early as 2009, there were recommendations to transfer Neville Brooks out of Internal 
Affairs due to concerns about his management and philosophy.  Those requests were 
never granted. Sometime in January 2011, Lieutenant Brooks was informed that he was 
not going to be promoted to Deputy Chief.  

 
• On January 27, 2011, a memo was crafted recommending to Chief Roberts that Brooks 

be transferred out of Internal Affairs. Chief Roberts decided not to transfer Brooks, but to 
inform him that he had six (6) months to “clean up his act and come to work.”  Shortly 
after that memo, Chief McKoy allegedly told Lieutenant Brooks to “watch your back; the 
chiefs are out to get you.” Chief McKoy denies this; however, it was reported by 
Lieutenant Brooks.  

 
• During February and March of 2011 there were several investigations that needed to be 

either closed out or reviewed in which the current Assistant Chiefs and Deputy Chiefs 
had some involvement, although on the periphery.   
 

• On April 4, 2011, an interview occurred with Chief Heavren concerning his role in an 
open Internal Affairs investigation.  On Lieutenant Brooks’ order, Chief Heavren was 
given Garrity warnings. On or about this time, a request for a meeting was also sent to 
Deputy Chief Sansom for an unrelated matter. There were also rumors that Deputy Chief 
Ciesinski and Assistant Chief Horvath would also be called in for interviews concerning 
additional matters.   
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• On April 6, 2011, Sgt. Laureano was summoned to the Chief’s office and asked why he 
had requested a transfer from Internal Affairs.  He provided information stating that he 
believed that he was being asked to do unethical investigations concerning the Assistant 
Chiefs and Deputy Chiefs.  He subsequently documented those concerns in a memo dated 
April 11, 2011. (Exhibit 5) 

 
• On April 7, 2011, Lieutenant Brooks was called to a meeting with all Chiefs in which he 

was questioned and which he denied that he was targeting the command staff. (Exhibit 6) 
 

• On April 11, 2011, Chief Horvath composed a memo detailing his concerns that the 
Chiefs were being targeted and that it was imperative to begin an I-File on Lieutenant 
Brooks and to transfer him immediately. (Exhibit 7) 

 
• On April 12, 2011, an I-File was initiated.  (Exhibit 8) 

 
• On April 14, 2011, Lieutenant Brooks was informed by Chief Roberts that he would be 

transferred from Internal Affairs effective April 17, 2011.  This meeting was described  
as cordial and professional. 

 
• Additionally, on April 14, 2011, Deputy Chief Ciesinski composed a memo under Chief 

Roberts name detailing the manner in which Lieutenant Brooks should be removed from 
his office.  (Exhibit 9) 

 
• At 3:30 p.m. on April 15, 2011, Lieutenant Brooks was informed that he needed to leave 

his office immediately; he removed his personal belongings and was escorted from the 
IAD complex. His electronic access to the IAD complex was eliminated; and effective 
Sunday, April 17, 2011, he was transferred.  

 

 Upon review of the events and in the course of our investigation we found the following: 

A. Lieutenant Neville Brooks, in his role as Commander of the Internal Affairs Division 
of the Hartford Police Department, did not unfairly target Assistant or Deputy 
Chiefs for investigation.  While it is noted that no Chiefs were the subject of any 
formal investigation for any actions that they did or did not take,  Lieutenant Brooks 
was appropriately following-up on information concerning several open and new 
investigations in which the Assistant Chief and Deputy Chiefs had information.  As 
commander of the Internal Affairs Division, he had authority to conduct these 
inquiries. However, it appears clear that while he did not “manufacture” any 
inquiries for the sole purpose of investigating the Chiefs, if a case allowed for an 



15 | P a g e  
 

 

opportunity to interview any of the Chiefs, he discussed interviewing them to cause 
embarrassment and to make them uncomfortable.  
 

B. We do not find any specific “personal gain” motives for Lieutenant Brooks, other 
than probable dislike and lack of respect for the Command Staff. The manner in 
which Assistant Chief Heavren was interviewed was unnecessary and aggressive.  
The manner in which Lt. Brooks discussed how to conduct interviews with the other 
Chiefs would have been unnecessary and aggressive, if they had occurred. 

 
In December of 2010, vacancies occurred in several Assistant or Deputy Chief Positions.  Chief 
Daryl Roberts selected approximately ten to twelve individuals from within the ranks of Captains 
and Lieutenants to submit a resume to be considered for promotion.  Lieutenant Brooks was one 
of those contacted by Chief Roberts and asked to submit a resume for consideration.  Brooks and 
others submitted resumes to the Chief. On January 31, 2011, Chief Roberts made certain 
promotions and the promotions became effective.  Chief Roberts promoted Deputy Chief John 
Horvath from Deputy Chief to Assistant Chief; Lieutenant Scott Sansom was promoted to 
Deputy Chief; Lieutenant Paul Ciesinski was promoted to Deputy Chief.  Lieutenant Brooks was 
not promoted. 
 
Shortly after the promotions were made, Sergeant Gabriel Laureano of IAD stated that 
Lieutenant Brooks' attitude changed negatively. According to Laureano, Brooks made statements 
to the effect that the new Chiefs were "drunk with power" and that Brooks wanted to "shove it up 
their asses." 3  Laureano stated that prior to the promotions, Brooks demonstrated little interest in 
the Internal Affairs cases. According to Laureano, Brooks would review the cases for errors, but 
would not offer suggestions during a case as to how to proceed.  
 
Subsequent to the promotions, Laureano stated that Brooks became especially interested in a 
case if it mentioned anyone of the Chiefs' names in it.  If a Chiefs' name was mentioned in a 
case, he would insist on bringing the Chief in for an interview, stating “I want to shove it up their 
asses.”   
 
During this period of time, Laureano claims that Brooks repeatedly complained to him that he 
couldn't believe that he was passed over for promotion, and that those promoted were not as 
qualified as he. Prior to the promotions, Brooks constantly praised Chief Roberts. After the 
promotions, Brooks would make negative comments about Chief Roberts including "not being 
able to trust him anymore," claims that Chief Roberts was making poor decisions and that Chief 
Roberts "was letting those fools guide him."  According to Laureano, these types of comments 
from Brooks were made on a daily basis.  Laureano also claims that Brooks stated that if Internal 

                                            
3 It is noted that during the interview with Brooks, he used the term "drunk with power" when referring to the 
Chiefs. 



16 | P a g e  
 

 

Affairs brought in as many Chiefs as possible for questioning and asked uncomfortable 
questions, and "grilled them on tape,” that would make Brooks "Teflon" from any future 
punishment.   
 
Laureano also claimed that Brooks referred to some department members as his “mortal enemy.”  
Some of those referred to as a "mortal enemy" included Assistant Chief Brian Heavren, Assistant 
Chief John Horvath, and former Assistant Chief Neil Dryfe.   
 
Laureano also thought it odd that Brooks began making extremely negative comments about 
Deputy Chief Sansom when it was common knowledge that Brooks and Sansom had been very 
close friends for many years. (Sansom states that prior to the promotions, he and Brooks were 
very close, but after the promotions, Brooks has not spoken to him.)  
 
However, Detective Sgt. Sonia Watson stated that she believes that Gabe Laureano may have 
overreacted to Brooks’ comments and that Brooks was only “venting.”  She stated that Brooks 
had a habit of ranting and raving and then would never re-address the issue.  Lieutenant Michael 
Manson stated that, while he was assigned to IAD several years ago, Lieutenant Brooks also 
made it known to Manson and others that he did not like or agree with the Chiefs, he always bad 
mouthed them.  However, Manson did not report that any investigations targeted the Chiefs 
during his tenure in IAD. 
 
There were four current cases being handled by the IAD that included some mention of one of 
the Assistant or Deputy Chiefs: 

 
1. An officer involved shooting (Horvath and Sansom) 
2. An investigation of an employee (Horvath) 
3. A hostile work environment case (Heavren) 
4. A citizen’s complaint  (Ciesinski) 

 
Before we briefly delve into each of the foregoing cases, it is necessary to examine the 
Department policy on the Garrity Rights.  Garrity rights (a somewhat equivalent to Miranda 
rights) need not be administered prospectively unless the matter under investigation is 
administrative and may be compounded by a criminal charge and the employee is being required 
to testify and is refusing to answer. Lieutenant Brooks claims that it is his policy (not in writing, 
and not Department policy) based on his training, that Garrity rights are always to be 
administered.  However, the current, albeit draft, Hartford Police Department Internal Affairs 
Procedure Manual provides the following guidance: 
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“Garrity v. State of New Jersey 385 U.S. 493 (1967) 
 
Garrity will only apply when the interview: 
-is regarding an administrative charge and 
-is or may be compounded with a criminal charge and... 
-the employee is being required to testify and... 
-the employee is refusing to answer. 
 
“Garrity" is a notice or a warning not a right 
 
Outside of the aforementioned parameters, the interviewee will be ordered to 
answer questions for an administrative interview. Refusal to answer will 
constitute insubordination, and will be subject to discipline, up to and including 
dismissal. Dishonest answers will be considered a violation of the Code of 
Conduct 2.01 (false entry into department-record) and subject to Public Act 05-
200. 
 
If an administrative interview reveals facts that lead investigators to believe that 
the investigation is turning criminal, the interview will be stopped and the State's 
Attorney's office will be contacted. From that point; the State's Attorney will 
decide if Garrity or Miranda will apply.” 
 

It cannot be overstated that if an officer who is not suspected of criminal wrongdoing, and is not 
refusing to cooperate, is nonetheless advised of Garrity, that this would cast a serious pall over 
the interview and create incredible and needless apprehension.  As one IA investigator in the unit 
said "it would only be a small percentage of the time when Garrity was required. It is needless to 
do it all the time." 
 
A review of the four cases previously mentioned is as follows: 
 

1. An officer involved shooting (Horvath and Sansom) 
 

If Lieutenant Brooks was ordered to investigate the matter, it appears that it was appropriate for 
him to question Deputy Chief Sansom about his knowledge of the officer involved shooting. 
However, having the interview accompanied by the administration of Garrity rights would be 
unwarranted and inappropriate.  No interview was ever conducted. 
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2. An investigation of an employee (Horvath) 
 

It appears that it was appropriate for Internal Affairs to initiate an investigation into allegations 
of improper conduct by an employee.  However, Lieutenant Brooks also told the IAD 
investigator, Sgt. Watson, to look into possible policy violations and attempted to initiate an 
investigation into Assistant Chief Horvath and his handling of the matter. The investigation of 
Assistant Chief Horvath never occurred as it was stopped by Chief Roberts.  Sgt. Watson 
concluded her investigation on April 6, 2011.  This investigation, if it had occurred, would be in 
direct violation of HPD Order 4-2, as previously discussed.  The Order states that “in the case of 
disciplinary proceedings involving senior police personnel, (non-bargaining unit members), all 
action will be taken by the Commander at the next higher level of command or the Chief of 
Police.”   

3. A hostile work environment case (Heavren) 
 

It was appropriate for investigators in the Internal Affairs Division to make inquiries of Assistant 
Chief Heavren regarding his knowledge of an alleged hostile workplace matter. However, having 
the interview accompanied by the administration of Garrity rights was unwarranted, 
inappropriate and aggressive in nature.  Additionally, since Garrity warnings were given to Chief 
Heavren implying that he was a potential target of an investigation, HPD Order 4-2 was violated, 
for reasons previously discussed.  Assistant Chief Heavren noted that the original subject of the 
Internal Affairs investigation was not given Garrity warnings when he was interviewed. 

 
4. A citizen’s complaint  (Ciesinski) 

 
It was appropriate for Lieutenant Brooks to initiate an investigation into the citizen’s complaint 
since he was apparently unaware that Chief Roberts had already assigned this matter for 
investigation.  Deputy Chief Ciesinski was authorized to investigate this matter and his actions 
were proper.  Although discussed, no interview was conducted of Ciesinski.   

 
We do not find any specific “personal gain” motives for Lieutenant Brooks, other than probable 
dislike and lack of respect for the command staff.   All issues that were discussed for interview 
were appropriate. The manner in which Assistant Chief Heavren was interviewed was 
unnecessary and aggressive.  The manner in which Lt. Brooks discussed how to conduct 
interviews with the other Chiefs would have been unnecessary and aggressive, if they had 
occurred. However, no other interviews were ever conducted.  We note that there were 
complaints from others alleging similar tactics by Lieutenant Brooks; however, we have not 
investigated those concerns. 
 
When the Chiefs discovered that Brooks was making statements to the effect that they would be 
targeted by Brooks, coupled with several nearly simultaneous attempts to interview Chiefs, they  
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believed that they were being improperly targeted.  As discussed earlier, there appears to have 
been legitimate reasons for Internal Affairs to be interviewing the Chiefs as to their knowledge 
of specific incidents. However, it also appears that Brooks was taking advantage of these 
opportunities and had verbalized his intentions on making these interviews as uncomfortable as 
possible for the Chiefs.   
 
As it relates to the Chiefs, we find that Lieutenant Brooks vented to others about his lack of 
respect for certain Chiefs and communicated his intentions to select IAD staff about using his 
position, when the opportunity presented itself, to the Chiefs disadvantage. 
 
We believe that if Order 4-2, as previously discussed, had been followed regularly,  the primary 
concerns of the Assistant and Deputy Chiefs that gave rise to this inquiry would not have been at 
issue.  Lieutenant Brooks would not have had  the opportunity to conduct any investigations of 
the Deputy Chiefs and Assistant Chiefs.   All inquiries would have to be done by the next higher 
level of command. 
 

A. We do not find evidence of retaliation by the Command Staff against Lieutenant 
Brooks.  He was appropriately transferred for legitimate reasons.  However, this 
transfer should have taken place much earlier. There were concerns raised 
about Lieutenant Brooks’ allegedly ineffective management of Internal Affairs 
Division dating back to 2009.  The reason for his transfer in April 2011 was 
solely due to the Chiefs’ understanding and belief that they were being 
improperly targeted for interviews.  The manner in which the transfer was 
carried out (i.e. immediate and escorting from his office) was over reactive, 
unnecessary and appears heavy handed.   

 
It had become common knowledge within the Command Staff that operational deficiencies 
existed within the Internal Affairs Division under the command of Lieutenant Brooks. One of the 
main concerns was Lieutenant Brooks' attendance record and lack of attentiveness to issues. 
Another significant issue was the timeliness of the completion of investigations.  Former 
Assistant Chief Neil Dryfe was highly critical of Lieutenant Brooks. As far back as November of 
2009, Assistant Chief Dryfe advised Chief Roberts that Lieutenant Brooks, in general, did not 
properly document cases and that he failed to fully and properly investigate complaints. Assistant 
Chief Dryfe opined that it was entirely possible that Lieutenant Brooks had an attitude towards 
internal affairs investigations and misconduct by officers that was incompatible with the 
Department's commitment to the citizen complaint process. Assistant Chief Dryfe was extremely 
concerned that Lieutenant Brooks' processing and investigation of citizen complaints would not 
be acceptable under the Cintron agreement.  No transfer was ever approved.   
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At least one more recommendation for Lieutenant Brooks’ transfer occurred on January 27, 
2011.  A document was crafted recommending to Chief Roberts that Lieutenant Brooks be 
transferred out of Internal Affairs to the Training Academy.  We were informed that this was a 
unanimous recommendation by all Assistant Chiefs and Deputy Chiefs.  Chief Roberts decided 
not to transfer Lieutenant Brooks, but to inform him that he had six (6) months to “clean up his 
act and come to work.”   We were told that Command Staff personnel,  informed Lieutenant 
Brooks of Chief Roberts decision and directive.  
 
Lieutenant Brooks was appropriately transferred from the Internal Affairs Division.  However, 
this transfer should have taken place much earlier, unrelated to the current issues. There were 
concerns raised about Lieutenant Brooks’ allegedly ineffective management of Internal Affairs 
Division dating back to 2009.  However, the reason for his transfer in April 2011 was due to the 
Chiefs’ understanding and belief that they were being improperly targeted for interviews.  
Independent information by one source had been provided to them concerning perceptions of 
Lieutenant Brooks’ intentions.  Although members of the Command Staff were told by Chief 
Roberts that no additional interviews would be conducted and that the situation was handled,  
Chief Roberts was influenced to conduct the transfer in the manner in which it was carried out 
because the Command Staff felt that the Chief was not taking this issue seriously enough. During 
our interviews with the Assistant Chiefs and Deputy Chiefs, we sensed a frustration that their 
recommendations for transfer were not approved.  This frustration may have contributed to their 
perception and understanding of Lieutenant Brooks intentions.  We were told that a common 
perception was that Lieutenant Brooks was “untouchable” because he was a confidant of Chief 
Roberts. 
 
Chief Roberts advised Lieutenant Brooks of his decision on Thursday, April 14, 2011.  
Lieutenant Brooks was advised that his transfer would be effective on Sunday, April 17, 2011.  
The meeting between them was described as cordial and professional.  However, the next day, 
Friday, April 15, 2011, Lieutenant Brooks was summoned to Assistant Chief McKoy's office at 
3:30 p.m. and accompanied to Internal Affairs along with Lieutenant Davis.  It was at this time 
that Lieutenant Brooks was relieved of his access key fob and access to the computer system. 
Chief Roberts had ordered that Lieutenant Brooks be escorted from the IAD. Although 
Lieutenant Brooks alleges that he was escorted from the building via a "perp walk", the evidence 
(and the Chief’s written instructions) indicates that Lieutenant Brooks was advised that he would 
not be allowed to re-enter the IAD complex of offices, not that he was restricted from the 
building. In fact, Assistant Chief McKoy insisted that Lieutenant Brooks take a key fob with 
access to the building itself.  
 
It is inconsistent and contradictory that Chief Roberts advised Lieutenant Brooks of the transfer 
on Thursday, yet it wasn’t until Friday that it became necessary to escort him from the IAD 
complex. Without a doubt, Lieutenant Brooks' transfer was appropriate.  Escorting Lieutenant 
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Brooks from the Internal Affairs complex on Friday appears overreactive and entirely 
unnecessary.  Although it is apparent that Lieutenant Brooks took advantage of his position and 
planned to do so in the future in order to attempt to embarrass the Chiefs, we find it was a result 
of personal dislike and lack of respect for the Command Staff and not specific personal gain.   
 
During our interviews of the Command Staff, we probed as to what possible personal gain 
Lieutenant Brooks was attempting to achieve.  The common belief amongst the Command Staff 
was that Lieutenant Brooks was attempting to embarrass the Chiefs so that they would be 
demoted and he would then be promoted to take one of their positions.    
 
We do not find any personal gain motives other than the apparent satisfaction at making the 
Chiefs feel uncomfortable.    We note that the allegation of “personal gain” on the part of 
Lieutenant Brooks began from the uncorroborated statements of Gabe Laureano and carried 
forward through memos by Assistant Chief Horvath on April 11, 2011, and Deputy Chief 
Ciesinski on April 12th and 14th.  Circulating a motive to Lieutenant Brooks' actions that he was 
removed from the Internal Affairs Division for attempting to use his position for "personal gain" 
as the motivating factor implies financial or ethical dishonesty, and not necessarily personal 
dislike towards individuals, and is one of the volatile components that has fueled the animosity 
surrounding this inquiry.  
 
We acknowledge that Chief Roberts is ultimately responsible for the manner in which Lieutenant 
Brooks’ transfer was carried out and communicated.  However, Command Staff personnel, 
particularly Assistant Chief Horvath and Deputy Chief Ciesinski, do not escape scrutiny and bear 
some of the responsibility for the effects of the decision.  It was at their urging that the transfer 
was carried out in the manner in which it was.  As senior advisors to the Chief, they should have 
recognized the potential for volatility.  The better course of action would have been to simply 
transfer Brooks in the normal course of affairs without ascribing any reason for the move.  
 
After the transfer and in apparent response to comments throughout the department and various 
media blogs, Chief Roberts addressed roll calls. This appears to have exacerbated negative 
feelings as it had an apparent result of casting Lieutenant Brooks in a negative light. 
 

CONCLUSION 

Notwithstanding the above noted problems with the operation of the Internal Affairs Division, 
this inquiry was initiated because of an internal power struggle that got out of hand.  There is an 
overwhelming atmosphere of paranoia and mistrust that has permeated throughout the Hartford 
Police Department, not only at the Command Staff level, but throughout the rank and file.  We 
found that much of this paranoia and mistrust can be attributed to the current internal 
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investigative and disciplinary process. We were informed of a number of allegations of unfair 
treatment, improper targeting, retaliation and inconsistencies in discipline. 
 
Particularly in the case at hand, statements, rumors and innuendo, as well as personal 
relationships played a significant role in understanding the actions taken by the Chief, Assistant 
and Deputy Chiefs, and the Commander of Internal Affairs.    We found that the Commander of 
Internal Affairs communicated a lack of respect for the Command Staff and discussed 
opportunities to embarrass them through investigative interviews.  Conversely, the Command 
Staff believed that Lieutenant Brooks was a close confidant of Chief Roberts because Chief 
Roberts did not act on prior recommendations to transfer Lieutenant Brooks.  Command staff 
believed that Lieutenant Brooks was “untouchable” leading to their perception that he had undue 
influence within the department. 
 
There is an apparent “bunker mentality” amongst different groups, particularly at the Command 
Staff level.  There appears to be an attitude of extreme suspiciousness, defensiveness and self-
justification based on a sense of being under persistent attack from others within the police 
department.  Others are mistrusted and viewed as the enemy.  Deviations of process and policy 
have occurred because of fear or concern of specific individuals.  This mistrust is primarily to 
blame for the continued violation of HPD Order 4-2.    In some cases, supervisors do not know 
of misconduct by their subordinates or they are not being held accountable for the actions of their 
employees consistently.   We were told that many supervisors were not trusted to conduct 
internal investigations; therefore I-Files were ordered and IAD made responsible for the 
investigation.  This is not conducive to maintaining transparency.  Many officers have expressed 
a complete loss of faith in the fairness of the system.  While numerous individuals have been 
interviewed to date, there are many more within the Hartford Police Department that have 
requested to be interviewed by us.  We have been told that those individuals want to discuss the 
internal investigative process and various problems with the management of other aspects of the 
Hartford Police Department, but not necessarily IAD.   

We were told that many officers feel that the Chief of Police and Command Staff was exercising 
undue control over the process and using it arbitrarily to protect some from discipline and 
persecuting others.  The use of the I-File process only exacerbates an already contentious 
situation.   

This paranoia and mistrust is perpetuated and set by those in power at the top. The “tone at the 
top” refers to how an organization's leadership creates the tone at the top - the atmosphere in the 
workplace.  Management's tone has a trickle-down effect on employees.  If upper management 
appears suspicious and defensive, employees will also.  In short, employees will follow the 
examples of their bosses.   
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In light of the preceding findings, we recommend immediate steps be taken to change the 
investigative process and perceptions within the department.   Transparent internal affairs 
processes are critical not only to enhancing public trust, but internal responsibility, accountability 
and morale.  

We note that the current IAD Commander, Lieutenant Robert Davis, has focused on correcting 
many of the deficiencies of IAD found during our review and the operational management of 
IAD has improved substantially.  

For continued improvement, the following immediate steps are recommended to enhance 
transparency, improve accountability and hopefully work towards improved morale. 

1. Adhere to the procedures and process contained in HPD Order 4-2, Disciplinary 
Procedures. Re-emphasis the responsibilities of employees and supervisors. 

2. I-File investigations should be limited to very few sensitive circumstances, such 
as ongoing criminal matters.   Order 4-2 already authorizes most disciplinary 
inquiries and that responsibility lies with first line supervisors.   Additionally, an 
HPD General Order should be promulgated to address the process of initiating I-
Files. 

3. Reorganize the Internal Affairs Division so that the Commander is an Assistant 
Chief.   This will alleviate any concern for investigations of Command Staff being 
conducted by a lower rank.  

4. Require IAD investigators to be fact finders only. Currently, investigators are 
required to find facts and make recommendations, and in some cases, 
recommendations for discipline as well.   This has caused concern and numerous 
complaints alleging bias and channeling of direction in the investigation.   
Discipline should be recommended by someone at the Command Staff level or the 
Department Advocate. 

5. Implement the recommendations contained within the 2008 Consultant’s report. 

6. Continue to address and monitor the compliance issues in IAD.   Conduct 
quarterly file audits to ensure compliance.   

7. Utilize IAPro to its fullest extent.      

8. Reinstitute Command Review of all investigations. 

9. Create a policy and practice that IAD files must be kept on site in IAD.   Upon 
transfer of an IAD investigator, all files will be reassigned.    
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SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS FROM AUDIT OF IAD COMMISSIONED IN 2008 BY FORMER 

MAYOR PEREZ AND CHIEF ROBERTS: 

1. Codify the written order currently identified as “Citizen Complaints,” IAD 06-001 
with the reasonable suggestions embodied in this audit report. 

2. The Department should consider bifurcation of criminal and administrative 
investigations and removing the criminal investigation from the responsibility of 
the IAD. 

3. Create a written definition of what constitutes a complaint. 

4. Expand the information about Internal Affairs on the Police Department website 
to include the definition of a complaint and the steps necessary to file a complaint. 

5. Create a brochure that describes for citizens the process to commend agency 
personnel as well as to complain about police performance. 

6. Ensure that this brochure is made available in convenient public locations at all 
police facilities as well as City Hall. 

7. The Citizen Complaint Form should be used for all complaints whether made in 
person, telephonically, letter or anonymously. 

8. Specific preliminary steps for employees initiating a Citizen Complaint Form 
should be delineated in policy and the form should be expanded to include the 
specific preliminary investigation conducted and notification to IAD on the Form. 

9. Training in the supervisor’s role for this preliminary investigation should be 
included in the New Supervisors’ School; in-service training should be directed 
for current supervisors. 

10. The “closed at intake” process should be delineated in official documents and 
should include a provision that the complainant shall be notified. 

11. The Police Department should decide whether or not it wants to use a form of 
mediation of citizen complaints. This should be codified and specific guidelines 
should be identified. Mediation requires that persons conducting the process be 
specifically trained in this practice. Before implementation within the 
Department, orientation training should be provided to agency personnel and the 
Police Union. 
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12. The Police Department should include in the written citizen complaint process 
that personnel meeting with a citizen regarding their intent to file a complaint 
must either document the complaint on the Citizen Complaint Form, or prepare a 
report delineating why the complaint was not accepted and forward the report to 
IAD. 

13. Develop an Internal Affairs Unit operational manual. (A manual was drafted and 
is available in IAD.  We were informed that it has never been formally adopted.)  

14. Develop an investigative guide for field level investigations including a template 
for the completed investigative report. 

15. Include in supervisors’ training the acceptable investigative protocols for 
administrative complaint investigations. 

16. Use a consistent case file format. (Appears to have been implemented) 

17. Adopt a standardized series of investigative control sheets and logs. 

18. Establish a written procedure that all persons will be interviewed and tape 
recorded during any administrative investigation. 

19. Formalize the process as to which interviews will be transcribed. 

20. Develop a format to direct the method of interviewing persons during 
administrative investigations in relation to the substance of the allegation. 

21. The IAD should conduct a sampling review of the narrative summaries against the 
actual tape recording. 

22. IAD investigators should be fact finders only. 

23. The Police Department should be required to provide a written rationale for the 
adjudication of administrative investigations and the recommendation of 
discipline. 

24. The Department should consider methods to formally involve the chain of 
command of accused employees in the adjudication and discipline process. 

25. The Police Department should implement a database of discipline penalties 
imposed and this should be available to persons designated with the task of 
making discipline recommendations. 



26. Working with the prosecutor’s office, the Department should develop a written 
policy and production protocol for “Brady” materials. 

27. The Police Department should establish an audit protocol for all administrative 
investigations in addition to the current chain of command and IAU review. 

  



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXCERPTS FROM AUDIT OF IAD COMMISSIONED IN 2008  

BY FORMER MAYOR PEREZ AND CHIEF ROBERTS 
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